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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
Case No.: 3:13-cv-4861-K
V.

ARCTURUS CORPORATION,
ASCHERE ENERGY, LLC,

LEON ALI PARVIZIAN a/k/a ALEX
PARVIZIAN, ALFREDO GONZALEZ,
AMG ENERGY, LLC,

ROBERT J. BALUNAS, and

R. THOMAS & CO,, LLC,

Defendants.
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COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission” or “SEC?”) files this
Complaint against Arcturus Corporation (“Arcturus”), Aschere Energy, LLC (“Aschere”), Leon
Ali Parvizian a/k/a Alex Parvizian (“Parvizian”), Alfredo Gonzalez (“Gonzalez”), AMG Energy,
LLC (“AMG Energy”), Robert J. Balunas (“Balunas™), and R. Thomas & Co., LLC (“R.
Thomas”) (collectively, “Defendants”). The Commission alleges:

SUMMARY
1. Parvizian and his two companies, Arcturus and Aschere, violated the registration
and anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities laws when, beginning in at least May 2007,
they marketed to thousands of members of the general public nationwide through extensive
boiler-room cold calling, investments in purported joint ventures that would conduct oil and gas

exploration and drilling activities. Parvizian, through entities he controls and salespersons he
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.directs, convinced at least 380 investors in 32 states to invest over $22 million, luring them with
the incentive of suggested returns on investment to be achievéd through his claimed expertise in
managing oil and gas well enterprises.

2. In an effort to evade federal securities regulations, Parvizian, Arcturﬁs, and
Aschere labeled their securities offerings as “joint ventures,” and claimed they are.not
securities.' Parvizian and Arcturus offered interests in two purported joint ventures relating to

~ oil and gas drilling operations: Hillock and Piwonka (together, “the Arcturus Securities”). .
Parvizian and Aschere offered interests in four purported joint ventures: Conlee, Fraley-Nelson,
Chips, and Wied Field (collectively “the Aschere Securities”). However, these purported “joint
ventures” a're securities offerings under federal law.

3. Gonzalez and Balunas marketed and sold the investments through unregistered
sales entities Parvizian directed and/or controlled, including AMG Energy and R. Thomas.
None of the offerings were registered with the SEC or exempt from registration. Parvizian-and
Balunas have not been registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC or associated with a broker-
dealer registered with the SEC since mid-2010, despite their continued sales efforts, and
Gonzalez was never registered with the SEC in any capacity.

4, Parvizian prepared and disseminated to prospective investors written offering
materials that included material misrepresentations and omissions. Among other things, -
Parvizian, Arcturus and Aschere failed adequately to disclose material litigation involving the
companies. To péy for the costs of defending and settling that litigation, Parvizian
systematically and without disclosing to investors, used the offering p‘roceeds, which adversely
irﬁpacted their business activities. Indeed, Parviéian prematurely called for complétion funds on

at least two projects before he had finished drilling and testing the wells because he already had
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spent the offering proceeds for non-JV related expenses, including legal fees.

5. Of the $22 million raised, Parvizian, Arcturus, and Aschere.spen't only $7.9

million, or 36%, for the purposes for which 'the,mone'y was raised—drilling oil and gas wel]s;

" while Parvizian diverted over $14 million to pay excessive administrative and legal expenses .
incurred by Arcturus, Aschere, and/or other entities Parvizian controlled that were unreléted to
the purported joint ventures or oil and gas well development in general.

6.  The SEC brings this civil enforcement acﬁon seeking permanent injunctions,
disgorgement plus pre-judgment and post-judgment intérest, and civil penalties for violations of
Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§
77e(a), 77¢e(c), 77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 15(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchénge Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 780(a)] and RuIeAl(.)b-S thereunder [17 C.F.R.
§240.10b-5].

JURISDICTION

7. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by
Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78u(d)] and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)].
8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) of the
~ Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77v(a)] and Sections 21(d), 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act[15
U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), (e) and 78aa].
9. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act and
Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77v(a) and 78aa]. Certain of the transactions,
acts, practices, and courses of business described herein occurred within the jurisdiction of the

Northern District of Texas.
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10.  In connection with the transactions, acts, 'practices, and courses of business

~ described in this Complaint, the Defendants, directly and indirect]y, made use of thé means or
instrumentalities of interstate commercé, of the mails, or of the means and instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce.

DEFENDANTS

11. Arcturus is a Texas corporation with its principal place of business in Dallas,

" and is wholly owned by Parvizian. Parvizian exercises complete control over the operations of .
the company. Arcturus is the Managiﬁg Venturer for the purported joint ventures it sponsors
and promotes, including Hillock and Piwonka. The company has never registered an offering of
securities with the Comm.ission under the Securities Act or a class of securities under the
Exchange Act. Arcturus has never béen régistcred with the Commission as a broker-dealer.

12. Aschereisa Texas. limited liability company with its principal place of business
in Dallas. Parvizian is Aschere’s managing member and exercises complete control over the
operations of the company. Between 2009 and 2011, through Aschere, who is the Managing
Venturer for each purported joint ventures it sponsors and promotes, Parvizian formed or caused
the formation of various “joint ventures” including: Conlee, Fraley-Nelson, Chips, and Wied
Field. Aschere has never registered an offering of securities with the Commission under the
Securities Act or a class of securities under the Exchange Act, and has never been registered
with the Commission as a broker-dealer.

13.  Parvizian, age 47, is a British citizen with permanent resident status last known
to be residing in Los Colinas, Texas. He was a registered representative associated with various
broker-dealers from January 1993 through June 2010. He owns and controls Arcturus and

Aschere, and until it closed in June 2010 amid regulatory troubles, he owned and controlled
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Amerest Sc(;urities, Inc., (“Amerest Seéurities”), a Commission-registered broker dealer. In
mid¥2010; Parvizian consented to a five-year bar from registering as a securities agent with the |
Texas State Securities Board (“TSSB™) and to a permanent bar from associatioﬁ with any
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) member. |

14. AMG Energy is a Texas vlimited liability company managed by Gonzalez, a
former sales agent for Amerest. At one time, AMG Energy shared an office with Parvizian and
his related entities and offers and sells purported joint venture interests sponsored by Aschere.
Aschere pays AMG Energy a “finder’s fee” equal to 12% of the funds invested in the Aschere
offerings it places. AMG Energy is not registered with the Commission in any capacity.

15. Gonzalez, age 39, is a citizen of Chile and resides in Dallas, Texas. Gonzalez is
the managing member of AMG Energy.' From September through November 2009, 'Gonzalez
was a sales assistant at Amerest Securities. He holds no securities licenses and is not registered
with the Commission as a broker-dealer.

16. R.Thomas is a Florida limited liability company managed by Balunas. R.
Thomas offers and sells Aschere-sponsored joint venture interests. Aschere pays R. Thomas a
“finder’s fee” equal to 12% of the investment funds it places for Aschere. R. Thomas is not
registered with the Coﬁmission in any capacity.

17. Balunas, age 60, resides in Port St. Lucie, Florida, and is the managing member.
of R. Thomas. From May 2000 to July 2010, Balunas was a registered representative associated
with Amerest Securities.

RELEVANT ENTITY

18.  Amerest Securities was a Texas corporation and Commission-registered broker-

dealer from May 1996 until July 2010. Wholly owned and controlled by Parvizian, Amerest
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Securities was a captive broker-dealer for Arcturus and for Aschere, offering direct
participation, private oil and gas investments on behalf of the two Parvizian entities.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

I The Purported Joint Venture Interests Offered By Arcturus and Aschere Are

19.  The interests in the Arcturus and Aschere Securities offered and sold by the
Defendants are investments contracts, and therefore aresecurities'under Section 2(a)(1) Qf the
Securities Act and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act. Investors in these offerings ma(ie an
investment of money, in a common enterprise, with an expectation of profits to be derived
solely from the efforts of Parvizian and his related entities,including Arcturus, and Aschere.

- 20. Individual investors send money to Arcturus or Aschere by mailing in checks.
They expect that their investments will be pooled with the funds of other inveetors in the
respective Arcturus and Aschere Securities. Investors are being pitched these investments by
unregistered salespersons, using high-pressure cold-calls emphasizing the capabilities and
unique qualifications of Arcturus and Aschere as an experienced oil and gas driller and operator.
Investors anticipate returns based on the future production of “turnkey” oil and gas wells, and
expect their profits to come solely from the efforts of Arcturus and Aschere, which represent
that they will develop the oil and gas well sites, sell oil and gas produced, and distribute
“monthly income” to investors.

A. Parvizian Formed Arcturus and Aschere to market oil and gas well
investments to the general public.

21.  Parvizian offers and sells the interests to the general public through a sales staff
that operates like a boiler room, using purchased leads and cold-callers. In addition to pitching

investors himself, Parvizian hired and supervised salespersons, who each made 200 to 300 calls
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-daily to solicit prospective ihvestors; making no effoﬁ to limit the offerees to those With
expertise or experience in oil and gas drilling. |

22.  In 1996, Parvizian formed Arcturus, and through it, he formed or caused the
formation of purported “joint ventures” Hillock and Piwonka.

23._ In Augﬁst 2009, Parvizian created Aschere, and he continues to control the
company and each of its purported joint ventures. Arcturus and Aschere serve as the respective

* “Managing Venturer” for each of the eﬁterprises.

24, Until July 2010, Arcturus and Aschere sold the “joint venture™ interests through
Amerest Securities, a Commission-registered broker-dealer owned and controlled solely by
Parvizian. Parvizian personally clos‘ed the sales with most investors.

25. Inlate 2009 and early 2010, the TSSB and FINRA initiated céuse eXaminatibns of
Amerest Securities. When Parvizian and Amerest Securities refused to produce bank
statements and other documentation for accounts used to pay drilling expenses for the joint
ventures, the TSSB and FINRA barred Parvizian as described above, and Amerest Securities
withdrew its broker-dealer registration.

26.  After his clashes with FINRA and the TSSB and after he was no longer registered
with the Commission as a securities representative, Parvizian began offering and selling the
interests through unregistered companies, primarily AMG Energy and R. Thomas, which are
run by former Amerest Securities employees Gonzalez and Balunas, respectively.

27. Parvizian remains involved in closing of the sales and collects the investment
funds, which are deposited into the joint venture’s account. Parvizian’s compensation, in part,

is based on the amount of funds invested.
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28. AMG Energy énd R. Thomas are unregistéred, captive sales agents for Aschere
'and' Parvizian selling the exact same investments: the Aschere Securities. Parvizian, through.
Aschere, not only pays them commissions, but also subsidizes their operations. For exarriple,‘
Aschere paid AMG Energy’s organizational costs, monthly stipends to cover rent (in
Parvizian’s office space), telephone costs, the $500 bi-weekly salary to AMG Energy’s sales
staff, and legal representation for Gonzalez and AMG Energy in the Commission’s enforcement
. investigation. - | |
29. In total, between July 2010. and December 20i 1, Aschere paid $950,974 to AMG
Energy, which in turn paid Gonzalez. Aschere paid Balunas a 12% commission on all sales, a
monthly “retainer” of $4,000 for office rent and other expenses, and legal fees for representation
in the staff’s invéstigation. From July 2010 through December 2011, R. Thomas received at
least $156,508, which in turn paid Balunas.
30. Asshown in the chart below, between 2007 and November 2011, Arcturus and
Aschere raised nearly $22 million from approximately 380 investors by offering and selling
interests in the six drilling projects. None of the offerings was ever registered with the

Commission.
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Offering (CIM Issuer Offering Period Investors | Amount
Date) : ' ,
Hillock Arcturus 5/9/2007 to 10/29/2010 108 $6,733,193

(March 31, 2007) ’ ' '
Piwonka ' Arcturas’ | 8/29/2008 to 11/30/2009 57 $3,418,369
(July 15, 2008)
Conlee Ascheré 10/20/2009 to 8/16/2010 71 $3,511,587
(October 1, 2009) .
Fraley-Nelson - Aschere 6/29/2010 to 10/29/2010 4 $241,850
(December 15, 2009) : :
Chips . Aschere 11/1/2010 to 2/11/2011 35 $1,940,100
(September 15, 2010) , ~ ‘ : ,

‘| Wied Field Aschere 2/2/2011 to 11/14/2011 105 $6,117,080
(January 1, 2011)

Total: 380 $21,962,179
B. Despite the Drafting of Organizational Documents to Suggest Active
Participation By Members, Parvizian, Arcturus, and Aschere Sought and
Expected Passive Investors For-Arcturus and Aschere Offerings.

31. Before sales begaﬁ, Parvizian prepared, or directed the preparatioﬁ of, the written
materials for each offering that were provided to investors. Those documents included: (1)
Confidential Information Metﬁoranda (“CIMs”) that purported to describe generally how the
venture would operate; (2) Private Placement Memoranda (“PPMs”) that were glossy brochures
summarizing the offering and used to pitch prospective investors; (3) Joint Venture Agreements
(“JVAs”) that designated Arcturus and Aschere as the managing joint venturer, with sole
authority to bind the venture; (4) subscription agreements; and (5) investor questionnaires. At
all times, Parvizian had ultimate control and authority over the content of the offering
documents and how the disclosures contained therein were communicated to investors.

32.  The Arcturus and Aschere Securities CIMs and JV As are nearly identical to one
another, except for their respective descriptions of the oil and gas well sites, the number and

price of joint venture units for sale, and the amount of funds sought from investors and

corresponding estimated expenditures.
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33. EachCIM discloses that upon initiél fundin.g, typiéa]ly two units, the venture will
enter into a turnkey contract with the venture manager to drill and test the well. If the well
Qperétor recommends completing the well and a majority of the partners agree, the venture and

~ the venture manager enter intc; a second turnk'ey contract to complete the well. Thdse who elect
to participate in the completion phase retain their interest in the project by forwarding their pro
rata share of completion funds to the managing venture. Electing not to contribute completion
funds, investors forfeit théir entire interest in the venture. |

34.  The JVAs appoint Arcturus or Aschere as the managihg venturer and explicitly
delegaté management of the day-to-day JV operations to the pertinent entity. As a result,
Parvizian, through his ownérship of Arcturus and Aschere, controls nearly every aspect of each
venture’s 6perations. Parvizian identifies the prospect, drafts the organizational documents and
agreements, sets the offering and completion price (including the amount of its profit), controls
who is admitted to the partnership, and extends the offering period at its sole discretion. The
JVAs specifically authorize the managing venturer to retain or act as operator, drill, complete,
equip, test, rework, operate, recomplete and, if necessary, plug the well and abandon tﬁe
prospect. Arcturus and Aschere also have the authority to enter into operating and other
agreements relating to the JV property. Thus, Parvizian, through Arcturus or Aschere, has the
power to make all of the significant decisions regarding the oil and gas activities that are the
purpose of the JV.

" C. At the Time the Agreements Were Entered, Investors Had No Reasonable
Expectation of Significant Control Over Their Investment.

35. Parvizian, Arcturus, and Aschere attempted to create the appearance of true joint
ventures in which the venturers participate actively in managing the venture. But in reality, the

victims were passive investors in “turnkey” investment contracts with Parvizian’s entities for
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 the entire amount raisesd in the offering, which became corporate asséts of the entity upon
receipt. '

36.  Under the terms of the offeringé, all decisions made by Arcturus or Aschere as the
‘managing venture were binding on the joint venture, but investors could not bind the joint
venture or act on its behalf. Parvizian, through Arcturus and Aschere, had e*clusjve control
over who was accepted as an investor or co-venturer.

37." From the outset of the investment, investors had no control over the price, terms, .
and counterparty of the factor most important to the success of the investment—the turnkey
drilling and completion contracts. Parvizian, not the investors, set both ihe contract terms and
the prices for the turnkey drilling contract and the turnkey completion contract under which the

" oil and gas wells wéu]d'be drilled. Parvizian—without any input frth investors énd before the
first investor purchased an interest—selected Arcturus or Aschere as the counterparty to the
turnkey contracts.

38. The JVA provides that votes of the partners may be taken by written consent in
lieu of a meeting, and that, unless otherwise provided, a simple majority of the units is sufficient

- to approve a matter submitted to a vote. But other than removal of the managing venturer,
which requires a vote of 60% of the interests, the JVA specifies few matters that require a vote
of the partners. Acts such as assignment of the JV property for the benefit of a creditor,
confession of judgment, dissolution of the partnership, and submission of claims to arbitration
or litigation require unanimous approval. All access to information regarding the JV is
controlled by the Managing Venfurer, who can condition disclosure of the books, records, and

reports upon a showing of a “proper purpose” by the partner.
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39.  Several barriers inhibited the partners’ ability to exercise their power of refnoilal.
Arcturus or Aschere can (and did) r_estrid access to the JV’s books and records, thus preventing
partners from communicating with one another to marshal the required 60% votes. Further, the- |
investors are numerous, geographically dispersed, and have no p-rior relationship to one another,
which also impedes their ability to organize and exercise their removal power. Indeed,
Parvizian refused investors’ requests for contact information for the other investors. Thu‘s, any
voting power granted by the JVAs was illusory. ~ |

'40.  Investors had no access to information except through Parvizian, and no way of
initiating a vote. It was, therefore, impossible for investors to confer with each other and
organize to vote to replace Arcturus or Aschere. In fact, in at least the Chips, Conlee, and Wied
Field dffering documents labeled the identity of the investors a “trade secret™ to which the
Managing Venturer could restrict access.

41. Undér the terms of the turnkey contract, Arcturus and Aschere took all of the
funds they raised from the JV accounts into their own accounts as their corporate assets at the
outset of the investment. Thus, had the JV partners attempted to remove the Managing
Venturer, the venture would have been left penniless. Further, Arcturus and Aschere were
entitled under the JVA to execute documents and hold interests in their own names. Thus, if the
JV partners tried to remove Arcturus or Aschere, they would have not possessed the working
interest. As a result, from the outset of the investment, the investors had no realistic alternative
to Arcturus or Aschere as Managing Venturer.

42. Asa condition to “acceptance” as an investor in these ventures, the JVA required

the purchaser to agree to the JVA as written, including the appointment of either Arcturus or
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Aschere as Managihg Venturer. Prospective investors had no ability to négotiate the terms,
which were presented on a “take it or leave it” basis.

43. As forjthe votes on monetary assessments, Parvizian holds no heetings or
conference calls, but solicits approval for additional, selected expenditures through ballots that
are more akin to affirmations rather than requests for managerial participation' by the investors.
For example, Parvizian solicited a vote for adding leases to a JV’s portfolio that he had already
pﬁrcﬁased wit.h investors’ funds.‘

44. - Parvizian did not, however, solicit investors™ votes before he used their funds t_d
pay legal fees and exorbitant overhead expenses not associated with their venture.

45. The Defendants did not seek out investors with managgrial experience in oil and
gas dﬁlling operations and instead marketed the.investments to the general public, ultimately:
raising over $22 million from over 380 investors in 32 states. Those who purchased the
investments were scattered throughout the United States, had no prior relationships with or
contact information for each other, and lacked experience in and knowledge about oil and gas
exploration. Thus, investors were utterly dependent on Parvizian’s efforts for profits, as they
understood from the outset of the investment.

46. Thus, notwithstanding the language in the organizational documents suggesting
otherwise, from the start of their investment, investors had no reasonable expectation of control

over their investment.
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Il. Parvizian, Arcturus, and Aschere Made False, Fraudulelit, and Material
Misrepresentations and Omissions in Connection with their Offer and Sale of the
. Arcturus and Aschere Securities. '

A.

47.

. excess of the turnkey contracts. Based on estimated well cost data, however, Parvizian,

Misapplication of Proceeds and Undisclosed Profits

Each of the CIMs disclosed that the JV manager was responsible for all costs in

Arcturus, and later, Aschere, knew that the total offering price was significantly higher than the

amount necessary to drill, test, and compete the wells. They also knew that the inflated offéring

price virtually eliminated Parvizian's risk and ensured a substantial profit for Arcturus or

Aschere. As shown in the table below depicting the ventures with known estimated well costs,>

- Parvizian marked up the estimated well costs by 33 to 78 percent to determine the total offering

amount. This markup shifted the entire cost to drill and complete the wells, and all of the risk,

to the investor and gave Parvizian a potential $8.7 million profit on just four projects, even if

the wells were dry holes.

Actual

JV Total Estimated Estimated Estimated Actual
Offering Well Cost Profit Profit % Profit Profit
Amount %o
Piwonka 4,375,000 | $ 946,410 $ 3,428,590 78 2,121,340 62
Conlee 4,769,600 1,834,864 2,934,736 62 2,475,361 71
Chips 2,182,000 613,830 1,568,170 72 1,166,988 60
Wied Field $2,548,800 | $1,710,120 838,680 33 3,828,330 63
$8,770,176 $9,592,019

48. These facts were material. A reasonable investor would want to know the actual

costs of the project and the magnitude of Parvizian’s potential profit, that he would bear little or

no risk, and that Parvizian’s interests in finding a successful well were plainly not aligned with

the investors’ interests.
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49.  The CIMs for the Conlee, Chips, and Wied Field ventures also misled investors
about the expected use of offering proceeds. In the CIM for each offering, the “Source and
Application of Proceeds” section includes a chart with a footnote stating:

It is estimated that 85% of the offering proceeds shall be used for business
purposes (including the costs of drilling, testing, and completing the
Prospect Well pursuant to the- Turnkey Contracts) and no more than 15
percent to be used for Offering Expenses, including: commissions or fees;
marketing; legal and accounting, due diligence expenses or affiliated
broker/dealers or market companies and the registration and qualification
of the Venture Units under federal and/or state law, if applicable. '

50. Parvizian knew from the estimated well costs, his experience, and the increasing
costs to defend and settle substantial lawsuits filed against him and his companies, that he
would not use anything close to 85% of the offering proceeds to pay the type of well-related
costs that are identified in the footnote. Indeed, Aschere spent 37% or less of the offering
proceeds on well-related costs for each of these three ventures. Aschere and Parvizian misled
investors in the Conlee, Chips, and Wield JVs about the estimated use of proceeds by indicating
that the JV would use 85% of the proceeds for business costs such as well-related costs, thus

obscuring the substantial amounts that he used for non-JV expenses and personal expenditures.

B. Inadequately Disclosed Litigation

51.  For each of the six purported joint ventures, the CIM discloses that oftfering
proceeds may be paid to the venture manager pursuant to the turnkey drilling contracts and that
upon transfer to the venture manager’s bank account, the funds become corporate assets that
may be subject to the venture manager’s general creditors. The CIMs further warn that if the JV
manager lacks sufficient financial resources to pay its ébligations, the venture could be
adversely affected. But as discussed below, these generic warnings were wholly insufficient to

properly disclose the way in which Parvizian spent the offering proceeds.
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52.  Bank records show that the JVs were the primary source of cash for Arcturus and
Aschere a}nd‘that Patvizian irﬁmédiately transferred the prdceeds o'f each offering to Afcturus or
Aschere accounts and pooled them to use fqr the companies’ expenses withoUt regard to which
entity had incurred the expense. .

- 53. During May 2007 through December 2011, Parvizian spent over $1.3 million in
legal fees litigating various lawsuits that he failed to disclose, or inadequately disclosed, to
investors.

54. | Aé detailed below, Parvizian’s systematic diversion of JV offering proceeds to
~ pay undisclosed or inadequately disé]osed litigation, settlement agreements and legal fees were
not disclosed to investors and harmed the JVs. At times, Parvizian used turnkey proceeds that
were needed to perform required work onJV projects to pay for litigation on unrelaiéd projects.
He also delayed work.or raiéed additional money on JV projects in order to pay for the
necessary drilling or other work.

55.  For example, Parvizian used Hillock and Piwonka offering proceeds to pay
unrelated litigation costs, which delayed the ventures’ acquisitions of participation interests and
commencement of drilling. Indeed, Parvizian had to call for completion funds from inve'stors
before drilling was finished because he lacked funds to pay the driller. Parvizian purposely
concealed these material facts to induce partners to contribute completion funds. Had he been
forthcoming about Arcturus’s and Ascheré’s financial condition and truthful about his use of the
offering proceeds, the prospective investors might not have participated in the completion phase
of these wells.

1. Vallecito/ERP Litigation

56. The most costly litigation arose out of an Arcturus-sponsored offering of interests

in a purported joint venture known as Fruitland Coal and subsequent litigation with Vallecito
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Gas LLC and Energy Resource Partners 'LLC (“ERP;’). Pursuant to a November 2007
settlement agreement between Arcturus and ERP, Arcturus agreed, amoﬁg other things, to pay
ERP $1,077,375 in installments. After A‘rct'uru_s failed to meet its settlement obligations, the
parties revised the ERP settlementv in August 2011 to ob!igate “*Arcturus and its affiliates” to
make the remaining payments. Through December 2011, Arcturus and Aschere used
commingled investbr funds to pay a total of over $700,000 to ERP.

57. Investors were not informed of, nor didv they approve, the use of tﬁeir commin'glea
funds to pay non-venture relatediitigation obligations.

58. The Vallecito/ERP litigation and ERP settlement put a significant strain on
Arcturus’s operations and ability to meet its obligations. Yet, Arcturus and later Aschere
inadequately disclo'sed the lawsuit, the settlement, and the ongoing obligation to ERP in the
CIMs. In the Hillock and Piwonka CIMs, Arcturus disclosed the fact of the lawsuit, But :
claimed the litigation would have no material effect or impact on the JVs. This statement was
misleading and omitted material facts, including the fact that after November 27, 2007, the ERP
settlement obligated Arcturus to pay nearly $1.1 million, which it did with commingled investor
funds.

59.  Arcturus’s use of the proceeds from the Hillock and Piwonka JVs to pay the ERP
settlement and the litigation costs caused it to delay drilling operations on these projects.
Moreover, these costs drained Arcturus’s resources, causing Parvizian td request completion
funds from investors in both JVs before the drilling on their respective wells was finished.

60. In the Conlee, Chips, and Wied Field CIMs, Aschere falsely claimed that there
was no current litigation which would materially affect either Aschere or the JVs. This

statement was misleading. Although Aschere, the manager of the three ventures, was not a
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" party to the November 2007 settlement between Arcturus and ERP, Parvizian-used Aschere’s
assets to satisfy some of Arcturus’s settlement obligations. As early as August ‘2010,‘Asqhere
made bayments pursuant to the ERP settlemént agreement. In the Auguét 2011 revised
settlement agreement, Parvizian obligated Arcturus and “its afﬁliates” to .make payments
pursuant to the'ERP settlement. In total, between August 2010 and Deceniber 2011, Aschere
paid $217,700 toward the ERP settlement. Thus, the Vallecito/ERP litigation put Aschere’s
assets at risk, and"the Conlee, Chi];s, and Wied Field disclosures rﬁislead investors by stating
that there was no current liti gation that would ma.teria]ly affect either Aschere or the JVs.

2. Lease Dispute and Arcturus’s Involuntary Bahkrugtcx

61. In August 2009, Arcturus’s landlord sued the company to collect $370,000 plus

. expenses related to ‘Arcturus’s 2003 sublease of office space. Arcturus fell hbehind on the
payments and abandoned the premises in May 2010. In late February 2011, the landlord filed a
petition for involuntary bankruptcy naming Arcturus as the debtor. On August 31, 2011, the
petition was dismissed when Arcturus agreed to pay the landlord from any funds distributed on
Arcturus’s allowable claim of approximately $2.2 million from Vallecito’s pending bankruptcy.
Subsequently, on September 12, 2011, for the benefit of its creditors, Arcturus assigned its $2.2
million claim to a trustee to distribute any proceeds from the claim to its creditors on a pro rata
basis.

62.  Arcturus continued raising funds on the Piwonka JV through November 2009 and
on the Hillock JV through October 2010, but did not disclose the lease dispute to prospective
investors after August 2009. Furthermore, less than two weeks after Arcturus’s lanc‘llordA filed
suit against the company, Parvizian incorporated Aschere and began selling interests through it.

In the Conlee, Chips, and Wied Field CIMs, Aschere stated that there was no litigation that
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would méteriall.y affect or impact Ascﬁere or the JV. The CIMs described Aschere as a
‘ “sucéessful, newly formed private cqmpany” and touted Parvizian’s experience, including his
association with 45 or more energy ventures. '

63. These statements were misleading since Parviziap and Aschere’s sister company,
Arcturus, were less than successful — Arcturus had significant financial problems, including the
Vallecité/ERP litigation, the lease dispute and, ultimately, the involuntary bankruptcy. Given
Parvizian’s ownership énd'control of both Arcturus and 'Ascher'e, these were rriat'eria] facts that
should have been disclosed to investors. Instead, the timing of Aschere’s creation suggests it
was formed as a transparent attempt to sidestep Arcturus’s financial and legal difficulties.

3. The 2010 Investor Lawsuit

64. On May 11, 2010, Dale Chatfield, an investor in the Hillock and Piwonka |
- ventures, filed a lawsuit charging Parvizian and Arcturus with misappropriating his investment
funds. On June 14, 2010, Arcturus settled the suit by agreeing to refund Chatfield’s investments
and to pay his attorney’s fees. Parvizian aﬁd Aschere guaranteed the settlement payments.

65. The lawsuit and Aschere’s guarantee to make the settlement payments are
material facts that should have been disclosed in the CIMs it used after May 11, 2010, i.e.,
Chips and Wied Field. Instead, the litigation section in these CIMs contained the statement,
“There currently is no litigation that will have any material effect or impact on the Managing
Venturer or this Joint Venture.”

66. The facts that Aschere guaranteed thg payments which (_:ould have affected its
ability to meet its financial obligations, and that an investor in an affiliated company’s projects
accused Pafvizian and Aschere of misappropriating investment funds were material facts that

should have been disclosed to prospective investors.
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C.  The Hillock Joint Venture

67. Between May 2067 and October 2010, Arcturus and Parvizian raised over $6.7
million from approximately 108 .investor‘s in the Hillock JV. Initially, Arcturus sought to raise a
total of $5.346 million, i.e:, $3,207,600 for drilling and testing costs and $2,138,400 for
completion costs. Aréturus later sold an additional perceﬂtage of the working interest because it
needed more money to fulfill its obligations to the original investors to drill the well.

Originally, the Hillock JV was supposed to acquire up to 87.38% working interest in a Logan
County, Oklahoma lease and to drill three wells on tl.1at lease. During the early part of the
offering period, Parvizian provided prospective Hillock investors a CIM which inclucied a
March 31, 2007 Arcturus balance sheet that showed that Arcturus owned an 87.38% working
interest in prospects in Logan County, Oklahoma. In fact,. althougﬁ Arcturus had agreed to |
acquire these wo.rking interests, it had defaulted on the participation agreement later in 2007 and
lost any claim to the prospects. Thus, from May 2007 until late 2007, prospective Hillock
investors received a CIM with a false balance sheet.

68.  Asaresult of Arcturus’s loss of the Logan County properties, in April 2008
Parvizian substituted two new wells in Haslet County, Oklahoma, called the Stigler wells, for
the original three wells and continued raising funds with a revised CIM. By the time Arcturus
began drilling the first Stigler well in December 2009, it had raised over $3.5 million from
investors for the Hillock JV, far more than it needed to drill and test the first Stigler well.

69.  Despite the fact that Arcturus had drilled only one well, in early January 2010,
Parvizian called for completion funds for four wells — the two Stigler wells plus two other wells,
the Azure and the Wildfire. As discussed below, at the time Parvizian called for completion

funds, the Hillock JV had not acquired either the Azure or the Wildfire. Arcturus and Parvizian
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did not disélose to investors that they had paid only a nominal amount toward the puréhase of
the Azure and Wildfire wells and had not even begun to drill the second Stigler well. Nor did
théy tell investors that théy needed to collect the completion funds for four wells because
Parvizian and Arcturus already had spent most of the $3.5 million Hillock JV offering proceeds
on non-Hillock expenses.

70. Between January 2007 and December 2009, excluding oil and gas revenue,
Arcturus collééted and commingled $10.3'1ﬁilli0ﬂ from all joint ventures. Arcturus used just $3 .

- million for well drilling and completion expenses. The remaining funds were used to pay the
following expenses duri;lg the same period: sales commissions ($2.1 million); office rent ($1.3
million); legal and accounting ($800,000); offering expenses ($1 million); selling and overhead
expenses t$3.6 million, including $132,00() for lead lists).

71.  Investors in Arcturus were not informed of, nor did they approve, the misdirection
of funds, which was material to théir investment.

72. Instead, the unwitting investors contributed $1.4 million for completion expenses
as a result of Parvizian’s January 2010 completion call.

73.  Despite the additional funds raised from the January 2010 completion call,
Arcturus and Parvizian needed still more money. In April 2010, Parvizian and Arcturus issued
a ballot to Hillock investors seeking authority to acquire the Azure and Wildfire wells and
asking for $25,000 per unit to pay for them. However, Parvizian failed to disclose that he had
already committed the venture to acquiring these wells and that he had previously sought and
collected complet.ioﬁ funds for both of these wells. In response to the April 2010 ballot,
Hillock’s investors contributed over $600,000 in additional funds.

74. In addition, between January and October 2010, Parvizian offered and sold
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Hillock interests to new investors, raising $1 million. At Parviziah’s direction, Gonzalez
convinced one investor to transfer his funds from the Fraley-Nelson to the Hillocic by telling
him that the Hillock had two operating wells, one of which wés already producing. In fact, at
that time, none of the Hillock wells was operating or producing; and one needed significant
work. .,

D. The Piwonka Joint Venture

75. Between August 2008 and November 2009, at least 57 inv.estors purchased oyér
$3.4 million in Piwonka v interests. Parvizian gave the sales staff a PPM supplemented with
bullet points and buzz words, such as, “extremely rare” or “proven strategy,” to incorporate into
the sales pitch. Parvizian directed the sales staff, including Gonzalez and Balunas, to tell
investors that it was an. extremely rare three pay-zone well; that the risk was minimized because
it was like having three wells in one; and that the investors could recover their investment in’
four to six months and could eventually receive 10 times their investment.

76.  Parvizian’s statements about the potential returns on the Piwonka offering were
misleading. Parvizian knew investors were highly unlikely to recover their investment in four
to six months because he planned to use the Piwonka offering proceeds to pay litigation costs,
which delayed drilling the Piwonka for a year. Moreover, because Parvizian spent Piwonka’s
drilling funds on non-Piwonka expenses, he was forced to request completion funds
prematurely. Also, because Parvizian determined the price of investors’ participation interest
by marking up the estimated well costs by 33 to 78 percent, he knew that it would be very
difficult for the investors to ever recoup their investment and nearly impossible to earn 10 times

that investment.
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| 77. In September 2009, contrary tovthe CIM, I;awiziah called for completion funds
for the Piwonka well. The displosures in-the CIM provide that the JV may requeSt completion
funds when a completion attempt is warranted. Parvizian and Arcturus, however, failed to
disclose to investors that the notice for completi.on was premature because, while the operator
had commenced drilling, the well was not at a point where a cqmpletion assessment could be
.made. Parvizian made an early call for complétion funds because he had spent the §2.2 million
in offering proceeds on non-Piwonka related expenses. |

78. In fact, in late July 2009, when Arcturus and Parvizian finalized the participation
agreement and drilling contract for the Piwonka well, they lacked thé $400,000 that the drillér
required to begin drilling. To commence drilling operations, Parvizian borrowed money from
one of his investors, After the driiler exhausted the i'nitial $400,000, it refused to continué until
Parvizian paid an additional $500,000. To raise these funds, in Sepiember 2009 Parvizian
called for completion funds, telling investors, falsely, that the driliing had successfully
commenced and that completion funds were due.

79. Between August 2008 through July 2009, Parvizian used the Piwonka investor
funds to pay the following: sales commissions ($723,000); offering expenses and |
administrative overhead ($945,000); legal and accounting ($200,000); office rent ($76,000);
loan repayments and settlements ($245,000); well expenses ($1 90,0005; other ($43,000);
Parvizian ($90,000); and travel, auto, meals ($70,000).

80.. Investors in Arcturus Securities were not informed of, nor did they approve, the
expenditures set forth abové.

81. Based on Parvizian’s false and misleading statements, Piwonka investors

contributed an additional $1.5 million toward the completion phase.
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- E. The Fraley-Nelsoﬁ Joint Venture

82; On September 1, 2069, Aschere agreed to acduire a working interest in the
Fraley-Nelson prospect, and in December 2009, it paid o.ver. $47,000 to secure its interest,
promising to pay anothér $750,000 for drilling costs by hid-]anuéry 2016 or forfeit its interest.
Also in December 2009, Aschere began the Fraley-Nelson JV offering in which it sought to
raise $3.3 million.

83.  Even though Aschere’s participation interest in the Fra]e’y-Nelsoﬁ was in jeopardy
becaus¢ Par_vizian had not paid drilling costs whén they were due in’ mid-January 2010, .in'
February 2010 Parvizian directed Gonzalez, Balunas and others to begin soliciting investors for
the Fraley-Nelson. Aschere never paid its share of the drilling costs, and on April 26, 2010, its
interest in the F raley-Neléon prospect was terminated. Parvizian, ‘however, did not halt sales of
the project, and between June and Septeinber 2010, Aschere received $241,850 from fouf
investors in the Fraley-Nelson JV. None of these investors were told that Aschere’s interest in
the project had been terminated.

84.  After Parvizian’s August 2010 testimony before the Commission, Parvizian and
Gonzalez contacted the four Fraley-Nelson investors and told them that Aschere’s ownership
interest in the Fraley-Nelson was “in dispute.” Rather than refunding their money, Parvizian
énd Gonzalez convinced three of the investors to transfer their funds to Arcturus’s Hillock JV
and one to transfer to the Aschere’s Chips JV. Gonzalez misrepresented the Hillock’s suc;:ess
in order to convince the investors to transfer their funds. .

F. Cumulative Misapplication of Investor Funds
85. Parvizian rﬁade no effort to segregéte funds of the respective joint ventures and

used funds from any source to pay Arcturus and Aschere’s legal, administrative, and operational
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expenses, regardlesé of whether they were related to the joint ven‘tureé.

86. Bank account fecqrds- from approximately January 2007 through December 2011
indicate that of tﬁe $22 million raised from investors, only $7.9 million, or 36%, waé usedv for;
lease acquisition and drilling expenses (“well costs™). Howe;/er, the CIMs and PPMs di'sclose'
that between 85-90% of offéﬁng proceeds would be used for well éosté, and only 10-15%
would be used for offering expenses to include commissions, marketing, legal, and accounting
expenses.

87.  Inreality, Parvizian and his aff;lliated entities spent th¢ remaini'ng investor money
as follows: |

(a) $4.1 million in sales commissions and prométer payments;
(b) over $2.7 million in office expenses, payroll, and taxes;
(c) over $1.8 million in office and apartment rents;

(d) $1.6 million in marketing and selling costs;

(e) nearly $1.4 million in legal and accounting expenses;

(f) over $947,000 in settlement payments;

(g) nearly $720,000 in disbursements to himself;,

(h) nearly $608,000 in meals, entertainment, retail purchases and automobile
expenses;

(1) nearly $506,000 in loan repayments to individuals and entities;

() nearly $118,000 in disbursements related to financing and debt collection '
. services; and

(k) over $116,000 in payments to relatives and other individuals.
88.  Investors were not informed of, nor did they approve, either the excessive offering

or overhead expenses, or the non-JV related expenditures.
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89.  Parvizian’s misapplication of funds is material to investors because, among other
 reasons, it has been so extensive that Arcturus and Aschere have not had sufficient funds to
- complete the various states of oil and gas drilling work contemplated in the offering materials.

III.  The Offerings of Interests in Arcturus and Aschere Securities Were Not Registered
With the SEC or Exempt From Registration.

90. Section 5 of the Securities Act prohibits any offers, difectly or indirectly, to seli a
security unless a registration statement for that security has been filed with _the SEC. A .

| registrati'o.n sfatement is transaction specific. Each sale ofa security must éither be made.
pursuant to a registration statement or fall under a registration exemption.

91. The interests in the Arcturus and Aschere Securities are investment contracts,
which are securities under Section 2(a)(1) of the Seéurities, Act and.Section 3(a)(10) of the
Exchange Act.

92. At the time of the offers and sales of the interests in the Arcturus and Aschere
Securities, there were no registration statements filed and in effect. No registration exemption
applied to the offering of interests in Arcturus and Aschere Securities.

93.  From approximately May 2007 through the present, Defendants together raised
more than $22 million from more than 380 investors in at least 32 states in the Arcturus and
Aschere Securities offerings.

94.  Defendants offered and sold interests in the Afcturus’ and Aschere Securities using
the means or instruments of interstate commerce, including but not limited to telephones, the

Internet, commercial couriers, and/or the mails.
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IV.  Parvizian, Gonzalez, Balunas, AMG Energy, and R. Thomas Each Acted As An
Unregistered Broker.

95.  Section 15(a)(1) offhe'l'ixchange Act prohibits a broker or dealer from using

jurisdictional means such as the telephone or mails to efcht transactions in securities unless the

" broker or dealer is registered with the SEC. Section i(a)(4) of the Exchange Act defines a
“broker” as any person who is engaged in the-business of effecting transaétfons in securitiés for
the account of others.

96.  Parvizian, Gonzalez (thr_oﬁgh AMG Energy), and Balunas (through R. Thomas)
used the telephone and the mails to aétively solicit investors to pﬁrchase interests in the
Arcturus and/or Aschere Securities, and they thereby effected purchases and sales of securities
for the accounts of the others.

97.  During the relevant period, Parivizian, Gonzales, Balunas, AMG Energy, and R.
Thomas offered and/or sold interests in.the.Arcturus and Aschere Securities while not registered
as a broker-dealer with the SEC or affiliated with a broker-dealer registered with the SEC.

98.  Further, Parvizian organized the securities sales operations of Amerest and AMG
Energy. He also helped prepare the CIMs, JVAs and other written offering materials for the
Arcturus and Aschere Securities, hired and supervised salespersons, and he directed the
payment of transaction-based compensation of up to 12% commission to éalespersons. Through
these activities, Parvizian acted'as an unregisiered broker for the period following his bar in
June 2010.

'99. Parvizian, Gonzalez, Bélunas, AMG Energy, and R. Thomas received transaction-
based compensation in the form of sales commissions based upon a percentage of the amount of

investor funds raised.
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V. | Aschere’s Fraudulent and Unregistered Offerings Are Ongoing.

100. Allof the DéfenAdants except Arcturus continue to solicit investor funds for the
sale of interests in ongoing drilling projects, including the Scarborough Fields project —a $5.54
millién, 3-well project. However, during the Commission’s underlying investigation, Parvizian

| refused to provide information about this and other recent offerings.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

"First Claim

Fraud - Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and
Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder

.Against Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian

101. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 100 of this
Complaint as if set forth verbatim hereiin. |

102. Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian, by engaging in the conduct
described above, directly and indirectly, with scienter, in connection with the purchase or sale
of securities, and by use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce the mails, or
any facility of a national securities exchange, have: (a) employed devices, schemes and artifices
to defraud; or (b) made an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged i‘n acts, practices or courses of business that
have operated or will operate as a fraud and deceit upon other persons.

103. By reason of the foregoing acts and practicés, Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and
Parvizian violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange

Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder.
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Second Claim
Fraud —Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]
Against Defendants Arcfurus, Aschere, and Parvizian

104. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 100 of this
Complaint as if set forth verbatim herein.

105. Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian, directly or indirectly, in the offer or
sale of securities, and by usé of the means and instrumentalities 6f interstate commerce the
mails, or any'fac‘ilitonf a national securities exchange, have: (a)vemployed de\'/iées,b schgmes,
and artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of a
material fact and omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements -
made, iﬁ light of the circumstan.ces under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged
in transactions, practices, and courses of business which operate or would operate as a fraud and
deceit upon the purchasers.

106. With respect to violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act,
Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian were negligent in their actions regarding the
representations and omissions alleged herein. With respect to violations of Section 17(a)(1) of
the Securities Act, Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian acted knowingly or with severe
recklessness regarding the truth.

107. For these reasons, Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian have violated

and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §

77q(a)]-
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Third Claim
Offers and Sales of Unregistered Securities

Violations of Securities Act Sections 5(a) and 5(c)
[15-U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a) and 77e(c)]

Against All Defendants

108. Plaintiff repeats aﬁd incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 100 éf this-v
Complaint as if set forth verbatim herein.

109.. Defendants, dirc;ct] y or indirectly, have made use of the means or instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate cpmme?ce or of the mails to sell securities, when
no registration statement was in effect with the SEC as to such securities, and have made use of
the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the
mails to offer to sell such securities when no registration statement had been filed with the SEC
as to such securities.

110. There were no applicable exemptions from registration, and Defendants therefore
violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will in the future violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of
the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢e(a) and 77¢(c)].

Fourth Claim

Offers and Sales of Securities by an Unregistered Broker-Dealer
Violations of Exchange Act Section 15(a) {15 U.S.C. § 780(a)]

Against Defendants Parvizian, Gonzalez, AMG Energy, Balunas, and R. Thomas
111. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 100 of this
, Complaint as if set forth verbatim herein.
112. Defendants Parvizian, Gonzalez, AMG Energy, Balunas, and R. Thomas, while
engaged in the business of effecting transactions in securities for the account of others, made

use of the mails or the means or instrumentalities of intcrstate commerce to effect transactions
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in, or to inducé or attempt to induce the purchése‘or sale of, a secuﬁfy without being fegistered
in accordance with Section 15(a) of the Exchange Aét. |

113. Defendants Parvizian, Gonzalez, AMG Enefgy, Balunas, aﬁd R. Thomas violated,
aﬁd unless restrained and enjoined will in the future vi’olatg, Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 780(a)]. | |

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHER’EFQRE, Plaintiff réspectfuﬂy requests that this Court:

(1 Enter an Order finding that Defendants co'mmvitted, and unless restrained will
continue to commit, the violations alleged in the First through Fourth Claims for Relief in this
Complaint;

(2) Permanently enjoin Defendants Arcturus, Aschere, and Parvizian fr.om f‘Litlire
violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5(a) and (c)
thereunder [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5] and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)];

(3) Permanently enjdin all Defendants from future violations ot Sections 5(a) and
5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a) and 77¢(c)];

4) Permanently enjoin Defendants Parvizian, Gonzalez, AMG Energy, Balunas, and
R. Thomas from future violations of Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 780(a)];

(5) Order Defendants to disgorge all ill-gotten gains from the conduct alleged herein,
with prejudgment intereét;

(6) Order civil benalties against Defendants pursuant to Sections 21(d)(3) and 21A of
the Exchahge Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(3) and 78u-1] and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. § 78u(d)] for violations of the federal seéurities laws as alleged herein; and

@) Order such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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Dated: December 12, 2013

SEC v. Arcturus Corporation, et al.
COMPLAINT

Respectfully submitted,

(Oden 8 Blunolt™
Jennifer D. Brantt )
Texas Bar No. 00796242
United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry Street, Unit 18
Fort Worth, Texas 76102
Direct phone: (817) 978-6442
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